

Kaunas University of Technology Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences

Recurrent Disease Treatment with Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy

Master's Final Degree Project

Ahmed Ghanim Glayl

Project author

Assoc. Prof. dr. Jurgita Laurikaitienė

Supervisor

Kaunas, 2021



Kaunas University of Technology Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences

Recurrent Disease Treatment with Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy

Medical Physics (6213GX001)

Ahmed Ghanim Glayl Project author

Assoc.Prof.dr. Jurgita Laurikaitienė Supervisor Linas PUODŽIUKYNAS Reviewer

Kaunas, 2021



Kaunas University of Technology

Recurrent Disease Treatment with Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy

Declaration of Academic Integrity

I confirm that the final project of mine, Ahmed Glayl, on the topic, Recurrent Disease Treatment with Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy, is written completely by myself; all the provided data and research results are correct and have been obtained honestly. None of the parts of this thesis has been plagiarised from any printed, Internet-based or otherwise recorded sources. All direct and indirect quotations from external resources are indicated in the list of references. No monetary funds have been paid to anyone for any contribution to this project.

I fully and completely understand that any discovery of any manifestations/case/facts of dishonesty inevitably results in me incurring a penalty according to the procedure(s) effective at the Kaunas University of Technology.

Ahmed Ghanim Glayl

Confirmed electronically

Glayl, Ahmed. Recurrent Disease Treatment with Volumetric Modulated Arc Therapy. Master's Final Degree Project/supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jurgita Laurikaitienė; Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Kaunas University of Technology.

Study field and area: Health Sciences, Medical Technologies (G09).

Keywords: palliative radiotherapy, recurrent disease, spinal metastasis, biologically effective dose.

Kaunas, 2021, 49 pages.

Summary

Spine metastases are common and complex cancer, which induce severe pain and neurological problems, such as sensitivity reduction, paralysis, etc.

The primary lung localisation stereotactic radiotherapy was performed, using two different fractionation schedules (48Gy (6Gy/8 fr.) and 60 Gy (7.5 Gy/ 8 fr.)). Two additional plans for the recurrent disease treatment were planned (planning target volume (PTV)+spinal cord (SC) and PTV-SC), using volumetric modulated arc therapy technique. PTV+SC means, that the spinal cord was involved in PTV volume, while PTV-SC means, that the spinal cord was contoured separately as an organ at risk. These plans were evaluated, using 5 different dose fractionation schedules (30 Gy (3 Gy/10 fr.); 20 Gy (4 Gy/5 fr.); 20 Gy (5 Gy/4 Fr); 8 Gy (8 Gy/1 fr.) and 7 Gy (7 Gy/1 fr.)). These two cases for the recurrent disease (spine metastasis) irradiation were planned, trying to minimize side effects for SC.

Treatment planning results were evaluated dosimetrically (*DHI*, *DCI*, *DGI*) and biologically (*BED*, *EQD*). It was found, that 4 different fractionation schedules were in a tolerance level, while the other cases differed from the low risk of myelopathy up to the high risk of myelopathy. It means that the fractionation schedule is an important step for recurrent disease irradiation in the near vicinity of the primary tumour. Also, it is important to pay attention to the interval between two treatment courses.

Glayl, Ahmed. Atsinaujinusios ligos gydymas naudojant tūrinę moduliuoto intensyvumo arkinę radioterapiją/ vadovė doc. dr. Jurgita Laurikaitienė; Kauno technologijos universitetas, Matematikos ir gamtos mokslų fakultetas.

Studijų kryptis ir sritis (studijų krypčių grupė): Sveikatos mokslai, Medicinos technologijos (G09).

Reikšminiai žodžiai: paliatyvi radioterapija, ligos atsinaujinimas, stuburo metastazės, biologiškai efektyvi dozė.

Kaunas, 2021. 49 psl.

Santrauka

Stuburo metastazės yra dažnas vėžio atvejis, sukeliantis pacientui stiprų skausmą ir neurologines problemas, tokias kaip jautrumo sumažėjimas, paralyžius ir kt.

Pirminis plaučių naviko apšvitos atvejis buvo suplanuotas, taikant stereotaksinę radioterapiją, naudojant du skirtingus frakcionavimo grafikus (48Gy (6Gy / 8). fr.) ir 60 Gy (7,5 Gy / 8 fr.)). Papilodmai buvo suplanuoti du stuburo metastazių gydymui skirti planai (planuojamas taikinio tūris (PTT) + stuburo smegenys (SS) ir PTT-SS), planavimui naudojant tūrinę moduliuotą arkinės terapijos metodą. PTT+SS reiškia, kad stuburo smegenys buvo apibrėžtos, kaip viena struktūra su planuojamu taikinio tūriu (PTT), o PTV-SS reiškia, kad nugaros smegenys buvo apibrėžtos atskirai, kaip kritinis organas, taip siekiant jas labiau apsaugoti. Šiems planams (PTT+SS ir PTT-SS) buvo naudotos 5 skirtingi dozės frakcionavimo atvejai ((30 Gy (3 Gy/10 fr.); 20 Gy (4 Gy/5 fr.); 20 Gy (5 Gy/4 Fr); 8 Gy (8 Gy/1 fr.) and 7 Gy (7 Gy/1 fr.))). Šie du metastazavusios ligos (stuburo metastazių) švitinimo atvejai buvo suplanuoti, siekiant sumažinti galimas SS šalutines reakcijas.

Gydymo planavimo rezultatai buvo įvertinti dozimetriškai (*DHI*, *DCI*, *DGI*) ir biologiškai (*BED*, *EQD*). Nustatyta, kad 4 skirtingi dozės frakcionavimo atvejai atitiko tolerancijos lygį, kai tuo tarpu kitiems atvejams buvo būdinga mažos, vidutinės ir didelės mielopatijos rizika. Tai reiškia, kad dozės frakcionavimo yra svarbus žingsnis atsinaujinusios arba metastazavusios ligos apšvitai. Taip pat svarbu atkreipti dėmesį į praėjusį laiko tarpą tarp dviejų gydymo kursų.

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my Assoc. Prof. dr. Jurgita Laurikaitienė for the continuous support of my M.A study and related research, for her constant and invaluable guidance during my work. Her intellectual encouragement and constructive critique were useful in the preparation of my research. This research wouldn't have been possible without the guidance and the help of Assoc.Prof. dr. Jurgita Laurikaitienė.

Table of Contents

List of figures	8
List of tables	9
List of Abbreviations	10
Introduction	11
1. Literature review	12
1.1. External beam radiotherapy	13
1.2. The main "tools" used in external beam radiotherapy	14
1.2.1. The main treatment planning strategies	20
1.3. Palliative radiotherapy. Re-irradiation of bone metastases	22
1.4. Biologically effective dose and equivalent dose	27
1.5 Summary of Literature review	32
2. Materials and methods	33
2.1. Evaluation of the plans	34
3. Results and Discussions	37
3.1.Dosimetric analysis of the plans PTV+SC and PTV-SC	38
3.2. Radiobiological analysis of the primary and recurrent disease irradiation	38
4. Conclusions	42
5.References	43

List of figures

1.	Fig.1. Estimated number of cases in 2020, (A) worldwide, (B) Lithuania for all
	ages, both sexes
2.	Fig.2. Illustration of GTV, CTV and PTV15
3.	Fig.3. Depths/mm of photons and electrons according to the energy and type of
	the beam
4.	Fig.4. Dose-volume histograms (DVH) to describe maximum and minimum
	receive dose in plans comparison for the target using different irradiation
	energies16
5.	Fig.5. Isodose distributions for 6 MeV and 15 MeV energies treatment plans
	(lung cancer case)
6.	Fig.6. Percentage depth dose curves in water for different accelerating voltage
	25 MV, 18MV, 10 MV, 6 MV, 4MV and cobalt-60 beam for 10 cm x 10 cm
	field
7.	Fig.7. Depth dose for different FS (40 cm x 40 cm, 10 cm x 10, and 4 cm x 4
	cm) with energy 15 MeV
8.	Fig.8. Illustration match MLC on the target
9.	Fig.9. Isodose distribution for the plane cross-sectional, perpendicular to the
	central axis of the beam normalized to 100% at the centre of the field19
10.	Fig.10. MLC fitting strategies: (a) inside edge (b) centre, (c) the outside edge,
	(d) circle
11.	Fig.11. Comparison of forward planning and inverse planning20
12.	Fig.12. Isodose distribution for three techniques (3D-CRT, IMRT and VMAT):
	the azure blue covering represents the intermediate-dose areas, the dark blue
	covering the low-dose areas, the yellow covering the intermediate-high-dose
	areas and the red covering the high dose areas
13.	Fig.13. Isodose distribution for VMAT and IMRT treatment planning
	techniques
14.	Fig.14. Illustration of the data for log-cell kill and tumour
15.	Fig.15. The minimum overall time that keeps severe mucosal EQD10/2 at or
	under 51 Gy. Tumour EQD; severe mucosal EQD. Maximum tumour EQDs for
	2Fr/day are higher than these for 4 Gy/1Fr EQD and 0.3 log10 cell kill. The
	planned curves drop when the late restriction dose is given
16.	Fig.16. TPS from Eclipse software
17.	Fig.17. A is a plan planned for PTV+SC, while B is a plan planned for PTV-SC
10	
18.	Fig.18. DVH for a planPTV+SC and PTV=SC
19.	Fig.19. Isodose distribution on coronal, sagittal and axial shows for one
•	representative case. The DVHs lines are relative to PTV and SC
20.	Fig.20. Distribution of BED in cases RM
21.	Fig.21. BEDsum and risk of myelopathy RM for the all analysed cases40

List of tables

22. Table 1. Single-fraction versus multiple-fraction RT regimens for paint	ful,
uncomplicated BM (different studies overview)	.14
23. Table 2. Data representing retreatment of painful spinal metastases (CR	٤ =
complete response; PR = partial response)	.23
24. Table 3. Median (range) dose statistics and CI (V95%/PTV) (PRVsc, plann	ing
risk volume of the SC; RVR, Remaining volume at risk; PTVe, elective, PTV	Vm
- sc, macroscopic PTV minus a 3-mm expansion of the SC)	.25
25. Table 4. Risk score for the development of RM	.26
26. Table 5. Risk groups for the development of RM	.26
27. Table 6. Rate of myelopathy for hyper fractionation and conventio	nal
fractionation	.26
28. Table 7. Occurrence of deaths	.27
29. Table 8. Described biological effect with the modified parameters for sensit	ive
mucosal	.28
30. Table 9. Recommendation ideal neck and head schedules	.29
31. Table 10. The fractionation schedules: strong (one (HFr, hyper fractionate	:d))
and two) and weak (three (AFX, accelerated and split course) and four), (l	ess
dose per fraction than standard)	.30
32. Table 11. Functional factors and EQD50 for different fractionation schedu	iles
	.31
33. Table 12. 10 different fractionation schedules used for primary and recurr	ent
disease irradiation.	.33
34. Table 13. Main parameters used in treatment planning	.34
35. Table 14. DHI and DCI for the PTV+SC and PTV-SC	.35
36. Table 15. DHI and DCI for the PTV+SC and PTV-SC	.35
37. Table 16. Dose prescription and cumulative BED for different fractionat	ion
schedules cases (1-5)	.39
38. Table 17. Dose prescription and cumulative BED for different fractionat	ion
schedules cases (6-10)	. 39
39. Table 18. The risk evaluation of the myelopathy	.40
40. Table 19. Cases without risk of the myelopathy	.41

List of Abbreviations

MESCC - metastatic epidural spinal cord compression VMAT - volumetric-modulated arc therapy BOT - beam on time IMRT - intensity modulate radiotherapy Radiotherapy - RT HI - homogeneity index CI - Conformity index MLC - Multi-leaf collimator **TPS** – Treatment Planning System PTV - Planning Target Volume ITV - Internal Target Volume CTV - Clinical Target Volume GTV - Gross Tumor Volume EBRT - External Beam Radiotherapy CT – Computed Tomography OAR - Organs at Risk MRI – Magnetic Resonance Imaging DGI - dose gradient index MU - monitor unit SSD - source surface distance 3DCRT - 3D-conformal radiotherapy SC – spinal cord Gy - Gray unit radiation dose DVH - dose-volume histogram BED - Biological effect dose EQD- Equivalent dose **BM-** bone metastases **RM-** Risk myelopathy **SM-** Spinal metastases RTOG - Radiation Therapy Oncology Group SBRT - Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy SRS - Stereotactic Radiosurgery

Introduction

Spinal metastases (SM) are a consequence of different cancers, which can lead to bone fractures, paralysis, neurological problems and induce severe pain [1]. Therefore, palliative radiotherapy (PRT) is a way of prevention SM induced complications. The main *problem* is re-irradiation of the same localisation or tumour localised in near vicinity/ recurrent disease, especially when the time-lapse is shorter than six months [2]. It is very *important* to mention, that PRT usually is used a non-standard fractionation schedule, for example, 3 Gy per fraction (30 Gy in total), 5 Gy/fr. (20 Gy in total), etc., instead of 2 Gy dose per fraction. It means that higher side effects could occur for the normal/healthy tissues and organs at risk (OARs) [3]. Due to this reason *advanced* treatment planning techniques, like inverse treatment planning (intensity-modulated radiotherapy or volumetric modulated arc therapy) could be a solution, ensuring better sparing of healthy tissues and OARs. Therefore, it is *relevant* to choose an appropriate schedule scheme of fractionation for SM PRT, if it is a case of re-irradiation of recurrent tumour or tumour localised in near vicinity [4].

The aim of this research project was to analyse and find the most appropriate fractionation schedule scheme for spinal metastasis, located in the near vicinity of the tumour, irradiation.

The tasks:

- 1. To plan recurrent disease (spinal cord) treatment, using volumetric modulated arc therapy.
- 2. To evaluate an outcome of the spine metastasis irradiation procedure, analysing the main dosimetrical parameters of the planned treatment plans.
- 3. To evaluate how different fractionation schedules influence the outcome of the whole treatment procedure.

Treatment planning was performed in a Hospital of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Kaunas Clinics, Oncology Hospital.

1. Literature review

Approximately 40% of cancer cases are diagnosed with spinal metastases. Around 10% of cancer cases, metastatic epidural spinal cord compression (MESCC) occurs during this disease. The most frightening complications of metastatic cancer are paralysis, bone fractures, progressive pain, and sphincter dysfunction with a loss of senses [6]. In patients with single-level symptomatic MESCC, a randomized controlled trial showed, that surgical pressure followed by radiotherapy (10 fractions, total dose 30 Gy). Based on radiographic results after standard radiotherapy, one study reported that the local failure occurred within one year for 70% of patients [7]. Therefore, the results indicated, that tumour control is not sufficient after surgery irradiating with a total prescribed dose of 30 Gy. Local failure refers to re-irradiation of MESCC for patients with metastatic cancer [6]. The percentage distribution of incidence rates for the common cancers and the most cancer worldwide in the 2020 y. is presented in Figure 1 (A), while the percentages distribution of incidence rates for the most popular cancers in Lithuania is presented in Figure 1 (B) [8].



Fig. 1. Estimated number of cases in 2020, (A) worldwide, (B) Lithuania for all ages, both sexes [8]

Spinal metastases (SM) cause neurological and physical complications, which can cause poor quality of life. The standard radiotherapy (RT) cares for uncomplicated painful SM. It is known, that 70% of patients treated with radiotherapy alone have a partial response or are resistant to treatment. Patients with growing or persistent neurological deficits and mechanical instability of the spine are offered for surgery procedure [9]. The results of this study showed inconsistent results. Therefore, the predictive factors for palliative radiotherapy response have not been identified [10-11].

Radiation therapy has been used exclusively to relieve pain in palliative patients. Reduced and controlled disease symptoms were observed in ~80% of patients, treated with radiotherapy [12].

1.1. External beam radiotherapy

Radiation therapy may be considered as the primary treatment method or in combination with chemotherapy or used after surgery as an additional treatment. RT aims to irradiate the target with as high a prescribed dose as possible, at the same time trying to save healthy tissues and organs at risk (OARs). The main limitation to the prescribed dose is healthy tissues and OARs [13-15]. Harm depends on fractionation, RT localization, the volume of the tumour and total treatment dose. For example, it has been observed that a maximum dose, more than 20 Gy, causes damage to the salivary gland, while harm to the lacrimal gland is caused when the maximum dose is higher than 30 Gy [16]. Usually, the total treatment dose of RT is divided into several fractions, which are generally delivered in 5 days per week for several weeks period (it depends on the irradiated type of cancer [17]. Therefore, the idea of fractionated therapy ensures the effectiveness of the treatment, at the same time reducing toxicity for the healthy tissues, critical organs or/and OARs in the vicinity of the irradiated target [17]. Therefore, external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) is an effective and useful method to relieve pain. EBRT relieves pain symptomatology with partial response in 50-80% of the cases and decreases the myelopathy risk of the SM [18]. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) and stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) could be used for long-term pain relief in comparison with conventional RT [19]. The fractionation schedules for the palliative bone metastases (BM) irradiation usually are used for pain relief during irradiation [20]. It was observed, that effectiveness of pain relief depends on the fractionation schedule and the primary response. It is known that several fractions can give good rates of palliation (palliative radiotherapy), various prospective randomized experiments have explained that 24 Gy in 6 fractions, 20 Gy in 5 fractions, 30 Gy in 10 fractions, or 8 Gy in a single fraction can give great pain control and minimum side effects (Table 1) [21]. K. Suzuki et al. [20] showed that pain relief after ten-day of multi fraction RT was more efficient in comparison with a single fraction RT. The other study [22] showed that there is no difference in the effectiveness in pain relief between multi fraction and single-fraction RT, even the pathological fracture rate and re-irradiation rate were significantly higher after single-dose RT. It is known, that there is no data clear on the time lapse for the re-irradiation. Is thought, that the optimal time lapse

could be at least six months between the first and second irradiation procedures [23-25]. Y. Choi et al. [26] announced that in patients with relapse metastases close to the previous treatment SC, an interval time of \leq 12 months, between the first and second irradiation was vital of local failure. Other authors [27-29] offer 6 months term for reirradiation with the risk of toxicity reduction and with the possibility of local control progression within a time [30-32].

The two possible fractionation schedules could be used to define the relation of late complications and tumour control:

- a) Hyper fractionation, size of dose/fr. is less than used in a standard schedule (2 Gy/fr.), without prolonging the total time of the treatment.
- b) Accelerated fractionation, the total time of treatment is minimized and the overall dose/fraction is slightly decreased compared to the standard fractionation [33].

It is known, that stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS), is used 1-5 fractions per whole treatment. SRS and hypo fractionated RT is effective and saves for the treatment of SM. However, the ideal dose and fractionation plan for SC re-treatment is not defined [34]. A. Kaufman et al. [35] analysis regarding spine SBRT/SRS treatment efficiency and dosimetry with Eclipse/Truebeam, Vero, Tomotherapy and CyberKnife showed, that dosimetric advantages for CyberKnife and Vero are faster in comparison with duration using tomotherapy and True beam.

No. of patients	Fractionation (Fr)	Overall pain relief, %	Complete response, %	Acute toxicity, %	Late toxicity, %	Repeated treatment rate, %
775	8 Gy/Fr.	78	57	30	2	23
	20 Gy/5Fr.	78	58	32	1	10
	or 30 Gy/10 Fr					
160	8 Gy/1 Fr	75	15	13	Not report	28
	30 Gy/10 Fr	86	13	18	Not report	2
898	8 Gy/1 Fr	66	15	10	4	18
	30 Gy/10Fr	66	18	17	4	19
327	4 Gy/1 Fr	59	21	32	6	42
	6 Gy/1 Fr	73	27	29	7	44
	8 Gy/1 Fr	78	32	37	7	38
376	8 Gy/1 Fr	Equivalent	Not report	Not report	4	15
	30 Gy/10 Fr	Equivalent	Not report	Not report	11	4
241	8 Gy/1 Fr	62	15	35	5	21
	20 Gy/4 Fr	71	15	35	5	12
272	8 Gy/1 Fx	53	26	5	5	29
	20 Gy/5 Fx	61	27	11	4	24
1,171	8 Gy/1 Fx	72	37	Equivalent	4	25
	24 Gy/6 Fx	69	33	Equivalent	2	7

Table 1. Single-fraction versus multiple-fraction RT regimens for painful, uncomplicated BM (different studies overview) [21]

1.2. The main "tools" used in external beam radiotherapy

Before irradiation procedure treatment has to be planned, prescribing irradiation dose and contouring the main volumes for irradiation and sparing healthy tissues and OARs. So, one of the steps in the RT or treatment planning process for the target is to scan the patient (using one of the modalities: computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission computed tomography (PETCT)) for the positioning purposes of every treatment fraction and contouring. The main volumes used for treatment planning are defined as gross tumour volume (GTV) that is determined by the visible tumour on clinical examinations and coregistered diagnostic images (CT, PET CT, MRI); clinical target volume (CTV) is defined as GTV taken into account the possible microscopic spread of the disease; internal target volume consists of an internal border attached to the CTV to recompense internal physiological variations and change in form, volume, and location of the CTV; planning tumour volume (PTV) is defined estimating additional geometric inaccuracies, such as uncertainty in patient positioning, due to the patient motion is added margin to the CTV (a typical margin is from 1 mm (in regions near OARs, for example, brainstem, spinal cord, etc.) or 3 mm to 5 mm); the treated volume (TV) is larger than the PTV and depends on a chosen treatment procedure (Fig.2) [36-37].



Fig. 2. Illustration of GTV, CTV and PTV [38]

External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) is performed from a radiotherapy unit outside the body. The most common equipment used for irradiation is a linear accelerator. The linear accelerator generates electrons and x-ray photons, which are used for the superficial or deep localized tumours treatment. Superficial treatment procedure using linear accelerator is performed using high energy electrons (common energies 6 MeV to 15 MeV), for skin tumours, total body irradiation procedures (lymphoma), and it is essentially useful treating shallow invasive tumours or tumours that are located near such organs as ears, eyes, lips, or nose [39, 40]. Irradiation using photons with energies from 4 MeV to 25 MeV allows performing treatment of deeper localisations. [41]. For example, breast cancer irradiation is usually performed with 6 MeV (maximum energy of the photons), while the prostate treatment -15 MeV. Variation of the energy (from Co-60 (1.25 MeV) to 6 MeV) also leads to the difference in target coverage. It is known, that irradiating with Co-60 and 6 MeV is formed higher hot spots in comparison with photons 15 MeV photons [42]. How it is important to choose the right energy or type of beam for the planning, evaluating the depth of the target could be seen in Fig. 3. It is obvious, that correct energy could lead to better coverage of the target volume, also decrease in so-called hot spots of the doses formed in a plan, which are useless, ineffective and could be even harmful to the patient [42-48].



Fig.3. Depths/mm of photons and electrons according to the energy and type of the beam [45]

Therefore, the selection of the energy for the treatment plan depends on how deep the localised target is, for example, breast cancer irradiation is usually performed with 6 MeV (maximum energy of the photons), while the prostate treatment – 15 MeV. Variation of the energy (from Co-60 (1.25 MeV) to 6 MeV) also leads to the difference in target coverage, for example, Co-60 are common so-called hot spots (higher than 107 % doses from the prescribed dose) with a worse coverage in comparison with 6 MV (accelerated voltage) and 15 MV photons (the dose-volume histograms (DVHs) are usually used for the final evaluation of the treatment plans, analyzing PTV coverage and OARs toxicity) (Fig.4).



Fig. 4. Dose-volume histograms (DVH) to describe maximum and minimum receive dose in plans comparison for the target using different irradiation energies [92]

However, it was observed, that for 15 MV photons was significantly worse tumour coverage for the surface area [92]. It is obvious, that chosen energy could lead to better coverage of the target volume, also a decrease in hot spots of the doses formed in a plan, which are useless, ineffective and could be even harmful to the patient (Fig. 5) [48].



Fig. 5. Isodose distributions for 6 MeV and 15 MeV energies treatment plans (lung cancer case) [51]

Therefore, insufficient surface coverage as was already mentioned is dependent on the energy of the photons, which have a characteristic to form so called build-up region and it is defined by the maximum depth dose (Fig.6) [47-49]. It is known, that for the Co-60 beam the maximum depth of the dose is 0.5 cm, while for the linear accelerator maximum energies (E_{max}): 6 MeV, D_{max} is equal to 1.6 cm; 10 MeV, $D_{max} = 2.0$ cm; 15 MeV, $D_{max} = 2.6$ cm [50].



Fig. 6. Percentage depth dose curves in water for different accelerating voltage 25 MV, 18MV, 10 MV, 6 MV, 4MV and cobalt-60 beam for 10 cm x 10 cm field [47]

The other factor, which influences treatment planning for the patient is field size (FS). It is known, that then FS increases, the percentage depth dose will increase as well. Therefore, for the small fields, the scattering processes are insignificant and treatment planning with different FS usually is beneficial due to enhanced dose distribution. Treatment planning with larger fields can have a meaningful negative effect, for example, during intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) this may increase multi-leaf (MLC) scattering processes (Fig.7) [52, 53].



Fig. 7. Depth dose for different FS (40 cm x 40 cm, 10 cm x 10, and 4 cm x 4 cm) with energy 15 MeV [55]

Therefore, MLC is one more essential additional tool, which is used to form treatment fields regarding the shape of the target. MLC contains a maximum of 80 pairs of leaves that are flexible and independently moves, for the optimal dose distribution in the vicinity of the tumour [54-57].

Multi-leaf collimator. The multi-leaf collimator (MLC) has a movable leaf. Standard MLCs have from 80 to 160 leaves. MLC can form almost every desired field geometry, shape. MLC has also some disadvantages, like radiation leakage between leaves and problems to form complex field contours (Fig.8) [54]. The MLC consists of two banks of leaves, which can be controlled individually; it is possible to design a radiation field regarding the target size and shape with an accurate movement of the leaves.



Fig.8. Illustration match MLC on the target [58]

The position of MLC affects the isodose distribution, which depends on the position of the collimator and on the scattering processes, which occur in the treatment unit head, patient or phantom. The isodoses for the standard plan is shown in (Fig.9) [59].



Fig.9. Isodose distribution for the plane cross-sectional, perpendicular to the central axis of the beam normalized to 100% at the centre of the field [59]

The effect of the scattering factor in the linear accelerator head depends mainly on the position of the leaves. It was found that the scattering factor for linear accelerator

"Varian" is smaller compared to "Elekta". Possible leaf fitting modes could be seen in (Fig.10). It shows that MLC may fit the PTV (shaded part) was uniformly for a margin M using 4 different fitting strategies: inside edge, centre, the outside edge and circle [60].





1.2.1. The main treatment planning strategies

There are two main types of treatment planning techniques: forward (3D conventional radiotherapy (3DCRT)) and inverse (IMRT and VMAT) [62]. Forward treatment planning is focused on a beam used for the planning [63, 64, 65], while for inverse treatment planning the beam shaping is the second step and this type of treatment planning usually starts with a description of the desired dose-volume constraints for the target and OARs (Fig.11) [60].



Fig.11. Comparison of forward planning and inverse planning [65]

The dose distribution of forward and inverse treatment planning techniques is shown in (Fig.12).



Fig.12. Isodose distribution for three techniques (3D-CRT, IMRT and VMAT): the azure blue covering represents the intermediate-dose areas, the dark blue covering the low-dose areas, the yellow covering the intermediate-high-dose areas and the red covering the high dose areas [66]

VMAT is a new volumetric RT technique based on simultaneous optimisation of MLC, dose rate, gantry rotation speed and shapes. The technology was examined in various studies giving an overall enhancement in avoiding healthy tissue and organs at risk (OAR), comparable target coverage, reduce the number of monitor units (MU) and decreased beam-on time compared to another IMRT technique.

It was observed, that using inverse treatment planning technique (VMAT) increased PTV coverage and sparing of OARs in comparison with forwarding treatment planning (3DCRT). Moreover, comparing inverse treatment planning techniques in between, it was observed, that the monitor unit (MU) is described as the average number of MU expected to achieve the prescribed dose and beam-on time (treatment duration) was decreased [66, 63].

Treatment plans evaluation criteria. The quality of planned treatment plans are one of main the steps, which let radiology oncologist and medical physicist to ensure the best treatment outcome.

Dose homogeneity and dose conformity indexes (DHI and DCI) are used to define how prescribed irradiation dose conforms to the shape, size (*DCI*) and is homogenously distributed (*DHI*) for the irradiated volume [68].

DHI and DCI are calculated using these equations [68]:

$$DHI = \frac{D_5}{D_{95}};\tag{1}$$

$$DCI = \frac{V_{PI}}{TV},\tag{2}$$

where D_{95} is the minimum dose, which covers 95% of the planned target volume; D_5 is the minimum dose, which covers 5% of the *PTV*; V_{PI} is the prescribed isodose volume and *TV* is the *PTV* covered by the prescribed isodose.

The standard value of *DHI* and *DCI* is equal to 1. It is known, that then the plan is less homogeneous, this value increases and is higher than 1, while *DCI* is higher than 1 when irradiated volume exceeds the boundaries of the irradiated target volume and covers some parts of OARs. *DCI* is usually lowering than 1 when the irradiated target volume is irradiated partially. While *DCI* is between 1 and 2, the treatment is following the main requirements/ protocol, if it is between 2.0-2.5 and 0.9-1.0 it is considered that there are some sort minor uncertainties related to the protocol; if it is more than 2.5 and smaller than 0.9 it is considered as a severe deviation from the protocol [69-70]. *DHI* let a comparison of various techniques or equipment and could be used as treatment protocols in the future, predicting, which treatment planning is a better quality can, etc. [71].

Dose gradient index (DGI) is the parameter used to quantify drop off of the dose, which is related to the radiation within the shape and size of the target, as well as with a dose distribution outside the target or the specified prescription range, which influences complications for the normal tissues [72].

The isodose represents the standard dose for the specific dose distribution for the target volume. To measure an average distance between two isodose distributions, the dose gradient index (*DGI*) is used [73-74]:

$$DGI = \frac{V_{50\%}}{V_{100\%}};$$
(3)

where *V50%* and *V100%* means irradiation of 50 % and 100 % volume with a prescribed dose.

The *DGI* is described as the ratio of the isodose volume of the 50% reference isodose volume to the isodose volume of the reference isodose volume and is estimated at the specific isodose volume (i.e., 90% and 80%) and the specific volume coverage values (i.e., *D85*, *D90*, *D95*, and *D99*). The modified gradient index (*mGI*), which analyses dose gradient based on the target volume is described as the ratio of the isodose volume of 50% reference isodose volume for the planning target volume and can be defined as follows:

$$mGI = DGI \times PITV, \tag{4}$$

where PITV represent the ratio of prescription isodose volume/target [105].

The low value of *DGI* means steeper dose falloff outside the target and better sparing of OAR during the comparison between two isodose distribution plans [69].

1.3. Palliative radiotherapy. Re-irradiation of bone metastases

Re-irradiation of bone metastases (BM) is effective and safe with response rates ranging from 33% to 84% in retrospective investigations applying a difference of dose per fractionation regimens. BM is a typical demonstration of malignancy that can generate debilitating and severe effects, including spinal cord pain, pathologic fracture, and

hypercalcemia compression. The proper care of BM patients' needs interdisciplinary care amongst radiation oncologists, radiologists, medical oncologists, pain medicine specialists, surgeons, and palliative care professionals. RT gives successful palliation of painful BM that is time effective and has been linked with some side effects. External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) can produce meaningful palliation of painful BM in 50-80% of patients, with up to 1/3 of patients obtaining full pain relief at the managed. A wide range of RT selections also exists for pain that has repeated after RT has been provided for BM. Amongst these possibilities is the second course of EBRT to the related localized position (repeated RT). Re-irradiation might be effective, safe, and important for patients with slight life likelihood [75]. Therefore, treatment planning technique is essentially an important step for the re-irradiation cases, trying more to spare organs at risk and healthy tissues [76]. In such cases, irreplaceable is inverse treatment planning techniques, like VMAT and IMRT, which showed promising results (sparing OARs) for re-irradiation procedures treating complex diseases and multiple metastases [77, 78]. Different studies of various fraction schedules for repeated treatment are presented in Table.2. It was observed, that re-irradiation needs more detailed analysis to define the main criteria for metastatic cases re-irradiation [76].

Study	No. of patients	Primarily dose	Re-irradiation fractionation	Pain relief	Notices
Local repeated RT	30	Mostly30 Gy/10 Fr	10 Gy/5 Fx to 26 Gy/13 Fx	50%	Better pain relief for those with initial CR vs PR
Prospective random selection experiment of 4 or 8-Gy single doses for BM pain	40	4 Gy/1 Fr 8 Gy/1 Fr	Most got 8 Gy/1 Fr; some got. 20 Gy/5 Fr	71% 44%	No variation in response by histologic kind
Single 4 Gy repeat RT for painful BM after single Fr RT	109 + 26	4 Gy/1 Fr 6 Gy/1 Fr 8 Gy/1 Fr	4 Gy/1 Fr	74% primary responders; 46% without responders	31% CR

Table 2. Data representing retreatment of painful spinal metastases (CR = complete response; PR = partial response) [76]

Study	No. of patients	Primarily dose	Re-irradiation fractionation	Pain relief	Notices
Secondary single 4 Gy repeated RT for painful BM	25	4 Gy/1 Fr, + repeat RT, 4 Gy/1 Fr 6 Gy/1 Fr + repeat treatment; 4Gy/1Fr 8 Gy/1Fr + repeat irradiation 4Gy/1 Fr	4 Gy/1 Fr (second re-RT)	80%	No pain control. variation in primary responders vs. no responders
Repeated-RT for painful BM	57	Single Fr therapy to 41%, fractionated irradiation to 59%	8 or 10 Gy/1 Fr, 26 Gy/6 Fr, 28 Gy/7 Fr, 30 Gy/10 Fr	87%	Patients irradiated. were primary. no responders
Low-dose, single-Fr RT for BM pain	11	4 Gy/1 Fr	4 Gy/1 Fx to primary responders, multi Fr or 8 Gy/1 Fr to no responders	100%, primary responders; 0%, non- responders	2 patients underwent re-irradiation second time
Single-6Gy RT): palliation of painful BM	18 ,different histologic types	6 Gy/1 Fr	6 Gy/1 Fr	72%	Long intervals Between primary and repeat irradiation
Repeat irradiation and Dutch BM Study cancer patients receiving RT for BM: results from randomized multicenter trial—Norway	173 , different histologic types	8 Gy/1 Fr 24 Gy/6 Fr	8 Gy/1 Fr, 46 cases Multifractions, 91 cases 8 Gy/1 Fr, 27 cases Multifractions in 9 cases	66% 46%	Single fraction RT effective primary Treatment or repeat irradiation

Table 2. Data representing retreatment of painful spinal metastases (CR = complete response; PR = partial response) [76] (continued)

Lee, Y. K., et al. [79] BM treatment study showed, that the dose distribution of the thoracic and cervical spine is comparable for both IMRT and VMAT techniques. It was observed, that better conformity was observed in a VMAT plan (CI=1.3) (Fig.13 and Table. 3). *D50%* does not differ from the prescribed dose of 35 Gy for both IMRT and VMAT plans.



PTV_boost prescription PTV_elective prescription 105% 100% 95% 90% 105% 100% 95% 90% 10Gy

Fig.13. Isodose distribution for VMAT and IMRT treatment planning techniques [79]

Table 3. Median (range) dose statistics and CI (V95%/PTV) (PRVsc, planning risk volume of the SC; RVR, Remaining volume at risk; PTVe, elective, PTVm – sc, macroscopic PTV minus a 3-mm expansion of the SC) [79]

Region of interest	Parameter	IMRT	VMAT
DCI	$\frac{V_{95\%}}{PTV}$	1.54 (1.20–2.41)	1.30 (1.02–1.96)
	D95%	30.7 (30.3–32.4	31.4 (31.3–32.9)
PTVm-SC	D90%	31.9 (31.5–33.3)	32.8 (32.2–33.6)
	V95%	82.6 (77.6–90.2)	87.1 (81.0–92.5)
	D95%	19.8 (19.4–19.9)	19.8 (19.5–20.3)
Region of interest	Parameter	IMRT	VMAT
PTVe	D90%	20.1 (19.8–20.6)	20.4 (19.8–20.9)
	V95%	99.6 (99.2–100.0)	99.3 (98.6–99.6)
PRV-SC	D1 cm3	22.0 (21.9–22.2)	22.5 (21.9–23.5)
SC-ring	D _{min}	19.2 (18.2–19.5)	18.1 (15.8–19.6)
	D _{mean}	23.0 (22.5–24.4)	23.2 (22.3–25.1)
RVR	V10 Gy	14.6 (9.8–36.6)	11.0 (9.4–18.9)
	D _{mean}	4.9 (3.8–7.8)	5.1 (4.4-6.1)

Also, it was observed, that SC is irradiated with an IMRT and VMAT plans were within tolerance limits. Therefore, dose to the SC, i.e., dose to the SC-ring was 18.1 and 23.2 for D_{min} and D_{mean} respectively for VMAT, D_{min} and D_{mean} for the IMRT was 19.2 and 23, respectively. Fallow tolerance limits for the spinal cord (SC) is one of the critical steps in evaluating palliative repeated RT. However, it is known, that the risk of myelopathy due to radiation depends on biologically effective dose derived for the SC, which usually takes into account the total dose and dose per fraction [79, 80]. The risk score is based on three variables, which distinguish three various risk groups (Table 4 and Table 5) [81]. The range of the risk score differs from 0 ($BED \le 120$ very low risk) to 9 (BED > 200 very high risks) [81].

Factor	Opoints	1 point	2point	3 point	4point	5point	6point	7point	8point	9point
Cumulative	≤120	120.1-	130.1-	140.1-	150.1-	160.1-	170.1-	180.1-	190.1-	>200
BED in 2Gv/fr.		130	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	
Interval <6 months					x (4.5)					
BED of one course ≥ 102 in 2 Gy/fr					x (4.5)					

Table 4. Risk score for development of RM [81]

Table 3. Risk groups for the development of Rivi [01]
--

Group	Points	Myelopathy	Myelopathy updated	Myelopathy%	%Myelopathy updated
Low risk	≤3	0/24	1/30	0	3
Intermediate risk	4–6	2/6	2/8	33	25
High risk	>6	9/10	9/10	90	90

B. Shibamoto et al. [82] reported, that a thoracic SC dose of the 50.4 Gy delivered by 1.2 Gy/fr., 2 Gy/fr. per day, lead to higher risk myelopathy (RM) for hypofractionated RT. Marcus, et al [83] study showed, that the rat's tolerance of SC depends on the fractionation schedule. Cervical SC of 276 healthy rats was irradiated over 6 weeks using hypo fractionated schedule with a single-doses from 0.75 Gy to 2.5 Gy and the total dose from 45 Gy to 150 Gy (66 fr.), were conventionally schedule with a single-dose from 1.5 Gy to 4.0 Gy and the total dose from 45 Gy to 120 Gy (30 fr.) (Table 6).

	Rate of myelopathy					
Dose (Gy)	Conventional fractionation	Hyper fractionation				
45	0.00	0.00				
52.5	0.00	-				
60	0.18	0.11				
67.5	0.00	-				
75	0.82	0.22				
82.5	0.75	0.10				
90	1.00	0.40				
97.5	1.00	0.20				
105	-	1.00				
120	-	1.00				
135	-	1.00				
150	-	1.00				

Table 6. Rate of myelopathy for hyper fractionation and conventional fractionation [84]

Myelopathy as neurological paralysis of the rat's legs was registered. Most deaths were caused spontaneously or by esophagitis arising neoplasms, while for hypo fractionation schedules death cases were registered during irradiation procedure (Table 7) [83].

	No. of the	Dead within	Dead within Follow months			
	animals	RT	0-5	6-10	> 10	Evaluable
Conventional	120	3	3	7	1	106
fractions						
Hyper-fractions	120	12	3	4	6	95
Control	36	0	0	1	5	30

Table 7. Occurrence of deaths [83]

Y. Hao [85] study showed that SC of rats irradiated with a 10.25 Gy/3Fr., led to forelimb paralysis, while any data about increased radiosensitivity of rats SC under 1 Gy were not registered. Van. Schueren, et al. [84] studied the main effects observed decreasing dose from 2 Gy/Fr. to 1 Gy/Fr. for the rat cervical SC, while the total treatment dose was 15 Gy/46 weeks, irradiated with 18 MeV photons. As a result, was observed white matter necrosis with foreleg disability due to demyelination.

1.4. Biologically effective dose and equivalent dose

Biologically effective dose. The basis of fractionation in RT means a better spare of OARs, due to repair of sublethal damage related to a repopulation of the cells and number of the dose fractions, if the overall time is enough long. It is known, that the ratio α/β for SC differs from 1.6 to 5.0 [86]. The Biologically effective dose (*BED*) is derived from the linear-quadratic (LQ) model, which shows the relationship between delivered dose and cell survival, also allows to predict the outcome for different fractionation schedules [96]. *BED* can be expressed as follows:

$$BED = nd(1 + \frac{d}{\frac{\alpha}{\beta}}) - \log_e 2(T - TK)/\alpha Tp,$$
(5)

$$BED = D \left(1 + Fraction \, dose \, / \, \frac{\alpha}{\beta}\right), \tag{6}$$

where *d* dose per fraction; *D* total dose; α/β represents the irradiated tissue [86]; *T* days (regarding a cell doubling time *Tp*) and tumour repopulation day *TK*.

BED is defined through the meaning of effective dose, equivalent dose and absorbed dose. An absorbed dose is defined as s the quantity of the ionizing radiation energy derived in a matter (tissues or organ) per unit mass. The unit of the absorbed dose Gray (Gy) is equivalent to joule per kilogram. Equivalent dose shows an impact for the certain tissue on the type of radiation and is described as the absorbed dose in organ or tissue. Effective dose is known as the equivalent doses for certain tissues multiplied by their tissues weighting factors, which is used to represent the *BED* related to radiation, evaluating the influence of different radiosensitivity of the body tissues or organs (Table 8) [97].

Dose/Fr	Overall dose (Gy)	Total time (days)	Tumour <i>loge</i> 10 cell kill assessment	Acute mucosal object < 49–52.5 EQD (Gy)	Late complications object < 70 EQD (Gy)
2 Gy/32Fr	64.0	21	11.50	54.1	64.2
1.7Gy/36Fr	63.0	23	11.05	51.2	60.0
2 Gy/35Fr	70.0	34	11.50	52.2	70.0
1.8Gy/39Fr	70.2	39	10.90	48.6	67.2
1.2 Gy/20Fr + 1.6Gy/Fr + 1.4Gy/20Fr +2Gy/4Fr	76.0	33	12.01	55.2	67.0
1.2Gy/36Gy + 1.5Gy/20Fr	73.2	37	11.00	49.0	63.6
1.3Gy/60Fr	78.0	39	11.60	52.3	67.1
1.3Gy/60Fr	78.0	42	11.30	50.3	67.1

Table 8. Described biological effect with the modified parameters for sensitive mucosal [80]

Should be notice that Tp usually is shorter than the potential doubling time estimated before the tumour has got any cytotoxic therapy [80]. LQ model could be used for the prediction of *BED* per fraction in RT. It is known, that the biological effect of a physical dose depends on the dose rate, treatment time, fractionation scheme and character of the tissue. Report on the rate of repair in different tissues is necessary for choosing a proper interval time between radiation doses for certain situations. The interval time between each fraction has to be not longer than 3-6 hours according to which type of treatment schedule used [89].

As the patients' survival rate increase, oncologists usually meet difficulties of treatment due to late recurrence or secondary tumours located close to the primary irradiation site. The oncologist considering the re-irradiation of a location such as a thorax or a neck within which the SC has been earlier irradiated find out serious clinical issues sparing SC [89].

Relative effectiveness (RE) calculated, evaluating radiation damage of tissues in comparison with physical dose, related to fractionation schedule. It may be modified also by chemical, biological or genetic radiosensitisers or radio protectors, and particularly by repopulation or by dose rate, but the damage begins with a total dose RE. The damage occurs with cumulative dose relative effectiveness and it is related to Berendsen equation (8):

$$RE = (1 + d/(\alpha / \beta)) \tag{7}$$

$$BED = D x RE, \tag{8}$$

the total dose in 2Gy/Fr. is determined as the dose equal to the logarithmic survival of the cells.

Equivalent dose (EQD) in 2 Gy per fraction. Biologically equivalent dose (*EQD*) is normalised to 2Gy/Fr., using non-standard fractionation schedules (standard is, using non-standard fractionation schedules (standard is 2 Gy/Fr.)

$$EQD = D \left(d + \alpha/\beta \right) / \left(2 + \alpha/\beta \right)$$
(9)

How tumour *EQD* is related to the fractionation schedule (1Fr. and 2Fr. each day) is shown in (Fig. 14 and Table 9). It is observed, that extended the total treatment time should be as short as possible, evaluating the effectiveness of treatment radiobiology. For example, for head and neck radiotherapy dysphagia and mucositis are the main acute reactions, using an altered fractionation schedule. It was found, that the late complications could be avoided due to late BED, delivering 70 Gy of 2 Gy fractions (EQD3/2), which is equal to 117 Gy3, while the dose for the spinal cord is equal to 45–50 Gy (EQD2/2), with a late BED equal to 90–100 Gy2 [80]. BED of the used schedule for the overall dose required to the same log cell kill could be described as the overall dose in 2 Gy per fraction would be delivered to the same log-cell kill. Log cell kill was calculated by the simple linear-quadratic formula *log cell kill* = $\alpha d + \beta d^2$.



Fig.14. Illustration of the data for log-cell kill and tumour EQD [80]

Table 9. Recommendation ideal neck and head schedules [80]

Dose per fraction	Total dose
1.40 Gy/57Fr	79.80 Gy/45days
1.30 Gy/60Fr	78.00 Gy/48days
1.20 Gy/70Fr	84.00 Gy/89days
3.41 Gy/16Fr	54.56 Gy/23days
2.94 Gy/20Fr	58.80 Gy/28or27days
2.53 Gy/25Fr	63.25 Gy/32or31days

It was found, that dose per fraction, even so slightly changed, could be led to effective severe reactions, while prolonged overall treatment time reduced tumour control irradiating with equivalent 1–2 Gy per day [80]. Tumour local control depending on fractionation schedule led to both the actual repopulation doubling time Tp and kick-off time Tk (Table.10.). The strong schedules (1 and 2, Table 10) were connected to

boost and the hypofractionation of 61.2 Gy/68fr. The weak schedules (3 and 4, Table 10) were the standard 2Gy/Fr. in 7 weeks and the hypofractionated 1.6Gy/42Fr.

Na	Function of an achieved	Overall	Total	Tumo cor	our time rected	Late complications	Acute mucosal
INU.	r ractionation schedule	(Gy)	days	EQD (Gy)	<i>Log</i> ₁₀ Cell kill	EQD(Gy) (aim< 70)	EQD Gy (<49-52.5)
1	Hyper-fractions: 1.2Gy/68 Fr	81.6	45	73.0	11.1	66.6	51.0
2	concomitant boost, 1.8Gy/30Fr+1.5Gy/12Fr	72.0	39	72.4	11.0	67.8	49.2
3	split AFX, 1.6Gy/42Fr	67.2	39	65.8	10.0	61.7	43.8
4	Control 2Gy/35Fr	70.0	46	70.0	10.2	70.0	44.3

Table 10. The fractionation schedules: strong (one (HFr, hyper fractionated) and two) and weak (three (AFX, accelerated and split course) and four), (less dose per fraction than standard) [80]

Similar data were observed for the practical overall time evaluation, related to a significant outcome for the equivalent late effects limitations and for their severe limitations of 51 Gy *EQD10/2*. This analysis explains how acute *EQD* (cycles) can follow the main recommendations due to the limitation level for the several days, extending the overall time (Fig. 15). The important practical outcome is that 2 Fr./day gives higher damage to the tumour than 1 Fr./day (with the same risk for the critical organs or normal tissues) [80].



Fig.15. Tumour *EQD* and acute mucosal *EQD10/2* at or under 51 Gy is presented, evaluating 2 Fr./day and 4 Gy/1Fr [80]

G. Roger [90] reported the idea, that BED is a potential value in determining the best treatment planning way for rescheduling a treatment fractionation if the patient had a break and missed treatment session. So, BED is important when is needed to complete the radiation procedure for the rescheduled treatment, trying to get a sufficient dose per fraction and to finish the treatment without any losses of the disease control and healthy tissues or/ and organs at risk overdose.

S. Dische [91] reported a new so called incomplete or insufficient repair pattern of the tissues, evaluating intervals between irradiation (12 to 24 hour). This investigation was applied to evaluate the risk of the RM following continuous hypofractionated accelerated RT, considering modern trial data for the rat SC. The kinetics of the repair was explained as a continuous hyper fractionated accelerated RT and is related to a higher RM, than using equivalent dose delivered in traditional 2 Gy/Fr. It was found, that RM risk differs from 0.3 to 1.2% for hyper fractionated accelerated RT dose to the SC (total treatment dose was equal to 42 Gy). The continuous hyper fractionated accelerated RT experience is an important step in applying different fractionation schedules, evaluating how important long interval recovery of the irradiated of the SC for the monkey, guinea pig, rat and mouse [89]. A. Kathryn, [92] found that different factors influence the tolerance of SC during. Three cm region of lumbar SC of guinea pigs has been treated with 4.5Gy/5Fr. Pigs were irradiated with 40.5 Gy in 7 days, after 40 or 28 weeks, were re-irradiated with 4.5 Gy dose in 6-14 Fr. It was found, that around 8% of side effects were observed. J. Kleiboer, [93] studied the sensitivity of fractionation for the rat SC. All rats were irradiated with a 15 Gy dose (the first course), which represented about half of the effective dose (ED_{50}) , while the second course of treatment was performed either at 6 months or 1-day delay after the initial treatment with a fractionated or single-dose irradiation. Different fractionation schedules are presented in (Table 11) for 1 day and six months after 15 Gy. It was observed, that after 6 months, the recovery after the first irradiation was approximately 45%.

Irradiation	ED ₅₀ (Gy)			Functional factors	
	After 1 day	After 6 months		After 1 day	After 6 months
15 Gy	16.2	18.5	$10 \alpha \text{ Gy}^{-1}$	0.47	0.29
15 Gy +3Gy/Fr	56.6	-		-	-
15 Gy +4Gy/Fr	47.2	65.1	α/β Gy	2.3	1.9
15 Gy +6Gy/Fr	36.8	18.5	$100 \beta Gy^{-2}$	2.1	1.5

Table 11. Functional factors and EQD50 for different fractionation schedules [93].

It is always an intriguing issue to find out the best outcome of the treatment, especially for re-irradiation procedures.

1.5 Summary of Literature review

Spine metastases (SM) induce neurological and physical complications, which can cause a poor quality of life. Conventional RT considers for uncomplicated painful spinal metastases. RT has been applied particularly to relieve pain for palliative patients. RT can minimize and control disease symptoms were observed in ~80% of cases, treated with radiotherapy. Approximately 40% of cancer cases are diagnosed with SM.

Therefore, it was noticed, that the predictive factors for palliative RT response have not been identified. The main limitation to the prescribed dose is healthy tissues and OARs. A linear-quadratic (LQ) model is applied to predict the BED in RT, which depends on fractionation, localization, the interval between irradiation procedures, the volume of the tumour and total dose. Different schedules of fractionation in RT evaluate repair related to a repopulation of the cells and spare of OARs. The idea of fractionated therapy is to ensure the effectiveness of the irradiation, at the same time minimizing the toxicity for the critical organs or OARs in the vicinity of the treated tumour.

Re-irradiation is one of the critical steps, evaluating possible side effects for the healthy tissues and OARs, which depends on the fractionation schedule.

2. Materials and methods

Recurrent disease (spinal metastasis) palliative radiotherapy was performed for the patient with a primary lung radiation case, using 10 different fractionation schedules (Table 12), trying to find the most appropriate schedule of the treatment.

	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3	Case 4	Case 5	Case 6	Case 7	Case 8	Case 9	Case 10
Primary	6Gy/8Fr	6Gy/8Fr	6Gy/8Fr	6Gy/8Fr	6Gy/8Fr	7.5Gy/8Fr	7.5Gy/8Fr	7.5Gy/8Fr	7.5Gy/8Fr	7.5Gy/8Fr
irradiation	(48Gy)	(48Gy)	(48Gy)	(48Gy)	(48Gy)	(60Gy)	(60Gy)	(60Gy)	(60Gy)	(60Gy)
procedure	-	-	-	-	_		-	-	-	-
Recurrent	3Gy/10Fr	4Gy/5Fr	5Gy/4Fr	8Gy/1Fr	7Gy/1Fr	3Gy/10Fr	8Gy/1Fr	7Gy/1Fr	5Gy/4Fr	5Gy/4Fr
disease	(30Gy)	(20Gy)	(20Gy)	(8Gy)	(7Gy)	(30Gy)	(8Gy)	(7Gy))	(20Gy))	(20Gy)
irradiation										

Table 12. 10 different fractionation schedules used for primary and recurrent disease irradiation

Treatment planning. The treatment planning system (TPS) "Eclipse" was used for the dose calculation (Fig.16).



Fig. 16. TPS from Eclipse software

Two different plans for the second irradiation course (recurrent disease treatment) and 10 different fractionation schedules were chosen, trying to find the best option for the recurrent disease treatment.

The primary irradiation procedure was planned as stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT) procedure with two different fractionation schedules 6 Gy/Fr (8 fractions in total) and 7.5 Gy/Fr (8 fractions in total) (Table 12).

The second course (irradiation of recurrence disease) was planned, using volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT). The main irradiation data are: maximum energy 6 MeV (standardly used for SRS and VMAT treatment planning), 2 standard arcs (179°-181° and 181°-179°), prescribed dose for PTV differed from 95% to 107% [98]. Different fractionation schedules and different PTVs volumes were used for recurrent disease irradiation (spinal cord metastasis). Different PTVs volumes are known as

A OPTIV-SC B OPTIV-SC

(PTV+SC) as a standard case (SC is involved in PTV region) and PTV-SC (with omitted SC) (Fig. 17)).

Fig. 17. A is a plan planned for PTV+SC, while B is a plan planned for PTV-SC

The main parameters of recurrent disease treatment plans are presented in Table 13.

Parameters	Plan (PTV+SC)	Plan (PTV-SC)				
Energy	6MeV					
1ARC	181° - 179° (CW)					
2ARC	179° - 181° (CCW)					
collimator rotation	30° - 330°					
couch angle	0°					
Field weight	1.414 (1ARC) - 1.400 (2ARC)	1.642 (1ARC) - 1.465 (2ARC)				
Total MU	836.7	920.3				

 Table 13. Main parameters used in treatment planning

2.1. Evaluation of the plans

Treatment plans were evaluated using different dosimetric parameters obtained from the DVH (Fig. 18 and Table 14) of the target and OARs as (more detailed description is presented in 1.2.1. section "The main treatment planning strategies".



Fig. 18. DVH for a planPTV+SC and PTV=SC

Table 14. DGI, DHI and DCI for the PTV+SC and PTV-SC

Parameters	PTV+SC	PTV-SC
PTV	PTV+SC	PTV-SC
D5%	31.5003	31.475
D95%	29.5076	29.198
V50%	30.7978	30.6709
V100%	25.1847	27.4462

Dosimetrical criteria for the plan analysis:

- DHI expressed by the minimum dose covers 95% of the planning object and is the minimum dose that covers 5% of the PTV. DHI values have been defined: DHI ≤ 2 treatment was considered to comply with the protocol. 2 < DHI <2.5- minor violation. DHI > 2.5- major violation.
- *DCI* expressed by prescription isodose volume /and target covered by the prescription isodose volume. *DCI* values have been defined: *DCI* > 1 means irradiated target > target volume. *DCI* < 1 partially irradiated target volume. *DCI* = 1 ideal conformation. 2.5 *DCI* < 0.9 major violation. 0.9 < *DCI* < 1 minor violation. 1 < *DCI* < 2 comply with the treatment plan.
- *DGI* where expressed by V50% and V100% means irradiation of 50 % and 100 % volume with a prescribed dose to the comparison between two isodose distribution plans.
- BED and EQD is a measure of the effect response tissue with different fractionated radiotherapy in units expressed in (Gy). Where D total dose, d dose per fraction, α/β represent the property of irradiated tissue of the ratio for SC as reported from 1.6 to 5, according to the literature, the α/β value for the SC tissue was supposed to be 3 Gy. EQD Equivalent dose in 2 Gy fractions.

Example of *BED* and *EQD* calculations:

1. a) Plan with 60 Gy, 8fr, 7.5Gy/fr (before recurrent disease irradiation)

 $BED = D (1 + Fraction dose / \alpha/\beta) = 210 Gy$

 $EQD_2 = D (d + \alpha/\beta) / (2 + \alpha/\beta) = 126 Gy$ D1cc (Gy) SC received 17.65 Gy

b) Plan with 48 Gy, 8fr, 6Gy/fr (before re-irradiation)

BED = 144 Gy $EQD_2 = 86.4 Gy$ D1cc (Gy) SC received 17.01 Gy

2. Recurrent disease irradiation was used 3 Gy per fraction (total treatment dose 30 Gy).

$$BED = 60 Gy$$
$$EQD_2 = 36 Gy$$

3. Results and Discussions

The treatment plan for the primary disease was planned using a treatment planning system, using stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT) treatment planning technique (Fig. 19).



Fig. 19. Isodose distribution for the primary lung SRT procedure (planned using two different fractionation schedules (48 Gy (6 Gy/ 8 fr.) and 60 Gy (7.5 Gy/ 8 fr.)

Treatment plans for the recurrent disease were planned using computed tomography images, using different fractionation schedules 48Gy (6 Gy/ 8 fr.) and 60 Gy (7.5 Gy/ 8 fr.) for Primary irradiation procedure with 30 Gy (3 Gy/ 10 fr.), 8 Gy (8 Gy/ 1fr.), 7 Gy (7 Gy/ 1 fr.), 20 Gy (4 Gy/ 5 fr.) and 20 Gy(5 Gy/ 4 fr.) for recurrent disease irradiation. The Volumetric modulated arc therapy technique was chosen for the recurrent disease irradiation, trying to spare the spinal cord as much as possible irradiating spine metastasis (Fig. 20).



Fig. 20. Isodose distribution on coronal, sagittal and axial shows for one representative case. The DVHs lines are relative to PTV and SC

3.1. Dosimetric analysis of the plans PTV+SC and PTV-SC

Dose conformity index and dose homogeneity index. According to the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) [68]. Treatment plans ((PTV+SC) and plan (PTV-SC)) were estimated using *DCI*. Calculated *DCI* values were equal to 1.27 (PTV+SC) and 1.04 (PTV-SC). It is known that the ideal *DCI* is equal to 1, while a higher than 1 *DCI* value shows that the irradiated target exceeds the target volume and partially covers healthy tissues, or in near vicinity located OARs. *DCI* smaller than 1 indicates, that the target volume is partially irradiated, if the *DCI* values are within 2.0-2.5 or 0.9-1.0 it is supposed that there is an insignificant variation of the protocol, but if *DCI* is more than 2.5 and less than 0.9 it is related to significant inaccuracies and it does not follow the protocol, while if *DCI* values differ from 1 to 2, it means, that plans are following the protocol (1.27 (PTV+SC) and 1.04 (PTV-SC)).

Treatment plans were also estimated using calculated *DHI* values. It is known, that if *DHI* is equal to 1 the dose distribution of the plan is homogeneous if the value is between 2 to 2.5 minor inhomogeneity could be observed if it is more than 2.5 major inhomogeneity is characteristic for the plan. Analysing this research work data *DHI* values for PTV+SC and PTV-SC were equal to 1.06 and 1.07, respectively. It means, that dose distribution in the target volume is homogeneous (Table 15).

 Table 15. DHI and DCI for the PTV+SC and PTV-SC

Parameters	PTV+SC	PTV-SC
DHI	1.06	1.07
DCI	1.27	1.04

Dose gradient index. Plan (PTV-SC) showed a significant rapid dose falloff outside the target volume than plan (PTV+SC). Calculated *DGI* values were equal to 1.22 (PTV+SC) and 1.11 (PTV-SC). This information is very important for recurrent disease irradiation, such as spine metastases, trying to spare it as much as possible.

3.2. Radiobiological analysis of the primary and recurrent disease irradiation

Biologically effective dose and equivalent dose. The BED calculated values are presented in Table 16. It was found, that using fractions of 48 Gy (6 Gy/ 8 fr.) for the first course (radical treatment), BED_{I} = 86.4 Gy, while using 5 different fractionation schedules (30 Gy (3 Gy/10 fr.) BED_{II} = 36 Gy; 20 Gy (4 Gy/5 fr.) BED_{II} = 28 Gy; 20 Gy (5 Gy/4 Fr) BED_{II} = 32 Gy; 8 Gy (8 Gy/1 fr.) BED_{II} = 17.6 Gy and 7 Gy (7 Gy/1 fr.) BED_{II} = 14 Gy) for the second course (palliative radiotherapy) BED_{II} differed from 14 Gy up to 36 Gy (Table 16). BED_{sum} calculation showed that Case2÷Case5 are within tolerance limits, while the Case1 risk factor of myelopathy was equal to 1.

	Parameters	Case1	Case2	Case3	Case4	Case5
First irradiation	Dose per fraction (Gy)	6	6	6	6	6
	BED _I (Gy2)	86.4	86.4	86.4	86.4	86.4
	$D_I(Gy)$	48	48	48	48	48
Re-irradiation						
	Dose per fraction (Gy)	3	4	5	8	7
	D_{II} (Gy)	30	20	20	8	7
	D_{tot} (Gy)	78	68	68	56	55
	BED _{II}	36	28	32	17.6	14
BED _{sum}	$BED_I + BED_{II}$ (Gy2)	122.4	114	118.4	104	100.4
Risk factor		1	Tolerance	Tolerance	Tolerance	Tolerance

Table 16. Dose prescription and cumulative BED for different fractionation schedules cases (1-5)

Five additional cases (Case6÷Case10), evaluating the influence of fractionation schedule on the rate of myelopathy, were studied. The main difference of these additional cases in comparison with Case1÷Case5, that was used the different the first irradiation course fractionation 60 Gy (7.5 Gy/8 fr.), while for the second-course irradiation fractionation schedules were the same. The main calculation results are presented in Table 17. Analysing these results were observed, that the risk factor for these studied cases differed from 2 to 5. It is known, that the risk score differs from 0 (BED ≤ 120 very low risk) to 9 (BED > 200 very high risks) and the risk of myelopathy equal to 5-factor risk (BED > 160) means high risk, while 1-factor risk (BED > 120) means low risk.

Table 17. Dose prescription and cumulative BED for different fractionation schedules cases
 (6-10)

		Case 6	Case 7	Case 8	Case 9	Case 10
1 st irradiation	Dose per fraction (Gy)	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5
	BEDI (Gy2)	126	126	126	126	126
	DI (Gy)	60	60	60	60	60
2 nd irradiation						
	Dose per fraction (Gy)	3	8	7	4	5
	DII (Gy)	30	8	7	20	20
	Dtot (Gy)	90	68	67	80	80
	BEDII	36.0	17.6	14.0	28.0	32.0
BEDsum	BEDI + BEDII (Gy2)	162.0	143.6	140.0	154.0	158.0
Risk factor		5	3	2	4	4

The results of all 10 cases showed, that for Case1 and Case6÷Case10 the risk of myelopathy varied from low to high. The lowest risk (1-factor risk (BED > 120)) was observed for the Case1 (1st irradiation course fractionation schedule: (48) 6Gy/8Fr And the 2nd irradiation course fractionation schedule (30Gy) 3Gy/10Fr), the highest risk (5-factor risk (BED > 160)) was observed for the Case6 (1st: (60Gy) 7.5Gy/8Fr; 2nd: (30Gy) 3Gy/10Fr), while for the other Case7÷Case10 risks differed from 2 to 4 (intermediate risk of myelopathy) (Table 17 and Table 18).

No. of the cases	BEDsum (Gy)	Risk factor
1	122.4	1
6	162.0	5
7	143.6	3
8	140.0	2
9	154.0	4
10	158.0	4

Table 18. The risk evaluation of the myelopathy



Fig. 21. BED_{sum} and risk of myelopathy RM for the all analysed cases

The same tendency was observed for a continuous hyperfractionated accelerated RT, with doses of 46.6 Gy, 48.3Gy, 45.2Gy, and 46Gy at the Mount Vernon Hospital [33]. SC reactions for some of the patients were unexpected, due to this reason radiobiological calculations of the BED was used for rescheduling fractionation for these patients, evaluating possible risks [33]. J. Van Dyk et al. [101] study results showed, that risk of RM for hyperfractionated accelerated RT was significantly higher than expected and the side effects of neurological disorders were registered as well.

Re-treatment or treating recurrent disease (spine metastasis) in close vicinity of the primary tumour irradiation spinal cord (tolerance dose is equal to a maximum of 45 Gy) dose has to be taken into account, especially as it was observed it depends on the dose of the primary tumour irradiation prescribed dose. J. Albert [103] study showed, that the overall tolerance of SC may be approximately 130 % of the tolerance dose for the initial irradiation. Also, it is known, that after 2 years of irradiation with 45 Gy of SC, spinal cord recovery was less than 50% [104].

Mancosu, Pietro et al. [99] registered less than 15% of cases with some motor function side effects, whereas in 36% of cases motor function were observed. This means, that the treatment with a *BED*_{tot} less than 120 Gy2 showed a sufficient decrease risk of

myelopathy. Nevertheless, it was shown, that when the interval between the first and the second courses was less than 6 months, the risk of myelopathy increased. Therefore, the risk of RM depends on the calculated *BED* for the SC, which takes into consideration both the dose per fraction and the total radiation dose. The SC is known, as the main dose-limiting organ during RT radiation or re-irradiation. The larger dose per fraction, the higher probability of RM could be observed [89].

Therefore, the most appropriate fractionation schedules could be used for this patient primary and recurrent disease (spine metastasis) irradiation following Case2÷Case5, then radical treatment is performed with a lower prescribed dose per treatment (48Gy (6 Gy/8 fr.) and the palliative recurrent disease irradiation with 20 Gy per treatment (5 Gy/ 4 fr. and 4 Gy/ 5 fr.) and with single-fraction irradiation (7 Gy/ 1 fr. and 8 Gy/ 1 fr.) (Table 16 and Table 19). These fractionation schedules could be recommended for the patient's treatment with the tolerable risk of myelopathy. It is known that a single dose of 8 Gy/ 1 fr. and 7 Gy/ 1 fr. is the shortest way and from the radiobiological point of view, multiple fractions as 20 Gy/ 5 fr.; 30 Gy/ 10 fr. are equivalent to a single 8 Gy/ 1 fr. and 7 Gy/ 1 fr. for the palliative patients irradiation [100]. So, the single fraction of irradiation could be really effective and sufficient for palliative therapy.

No. of the cases	BEDsum (Gy)	Risk factor (BED ≤ 120)
2	114.0	
3	118.4	0
4	104.0	0
5	100.4	

Table 19. Cases without risk of the myelopathy

4. Conclusions

- The volumetric modulated arc therapy technique seems to be a good choice for spine metastasis irradiation, trying to spare spinal cord additionally (PTV-SC). It was found, that for the plan PTV+SC (PTV and SC are delineated as one structure), the maximum received spinal cord dose was equal to 31.875 Gy, while for the PTV-SC plan it was equal to 29.818 Gy.
- It was observed, that both treatment plans (PTV+SC and PTV-SC) planned for the metastatic disease irradiation could be successfully used ensuring efficiency of homogeneity ((PTV+SC) (1.06) and (PTV-SC) (1.07)) and conformity ((PTV+SC) (1.27) and (PTV-SC) (1.04)) of the target coverage.
- 3. Analysing biologically effective dose was observed, that 4 cases were in tolerance level, without any risk myelopathy (BED < 120), while for the other 6 cases risk myelopathy was low, intermediate or even high (BED > 120). It was found, that all the cases (Case6-Case10) with a BED > 120 were for the dose fractionation schedules, then the primary disease irradiation was performed with fractionation of 60 Gy (7.5 Gy/ fr.), just one of the cases (Case1) for the fractionation 48 Gy (6.0 Gy/ fr.) was out of tolerance level with a low risk of myelopathy (risk factor was equal to 1). However, the higher dose per fraction leads to a higher *BED* and a higher risk for the healthy tissues.

5. References

- 1. Cole, John S., and Roy A. Patchell. "Metastatic epidural spinal cord compression." The Lancet Neurology, Vol. 7.5, 2008, p. 459-466.
- 2. .Mancosu, Pietro, et al. "Re-irradiation of metastatic spinal cord compression: A feasibility study by volumetric-modulated arc radiotherapy for in-field recurrence creating a dosimetric hole on the central canal." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 94.1, 2010, p. 67-70.
- 3. Ho, Hsiu-Wen, et al. "Dosimetric comparison between RapidArc and HyperArc techniques in salvage stereotactic body radiation therapy for recurrent nasopharyngeal carcinoma." Radiation Oncology, Vol. 15.1, 2020, p.1-11
- 4. McVicar, Nevin, et al. "Re-irradiation volumetric modulated arc therapy optimization based on cumulative biologically effective dose objectives." Journal of applied clinical medical physics, Vol. 19.6, 2018, p. 341-345.
- 5. Mantel, Frederick, Michael Flentje, and Matthias Guckenberger. "Stereotactic body radiation therapy in the re-irradiation situation–a review." Radiation Oncology, Vol. 8.1, 2013, p. 1-13.
- 6. Ito, Kei, et al. "Electron beam intraoperative radiotherapy for metastatic epidural spinal cord compression: a prospective observational study." Clinical & Experimental Metastasis, 2021, p.1.7.
- 7. Bilsky, Mark, and Michelle Smith. "Surgical approach to epidural spinal cord compression." Hematology/Oncology Clinics, Vol. 20.6, 2006, p. 1307.1317.
- 8. International Agency of Research on Cancer (IARC). Cancer today.[https://gco.iarc.fr/today/2020].
- 9. van der Velden, Joanne M., et al. "Prospective evaluation of the relationship between mechanical stability and response to palliative radiotherapy for symptomatic spinal metastases." The oncologist, Vol. 22.8, 2017, p. 972.
- 10. Arcangeli G, Giovinazzo G, Saracino B et al. Radiation therapy in the management of symptomatic bone metastases: The effect of total dose and histology on pain relief and response duration. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, Vol. 42.1, 1998.
- 11. Westhoff PG, de Graeff A, Monninkhof EM et al. Quality of life in relation to pain response to radiotherapy for painful bone metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, Vol. 19.1, 2015, p.22.
- Kiljunen, Timo, et al. "VMAT technique enables concomitant radiotherapy of prostate cancer and pelvic bone metastases." Acta Oncologica, Vol. 54.6, 2015, p. 847.853.
- 13. Nuraini, Rany, and Rena Widita. "Tumor control probability (TCP) and normal tissue complication probability (NTCP) with consideration of cell biological effect." Journal of Physics: Conference Series, Vol. 1245, 2019, p. 1.
- 14. Vanneste, Ben GL, et al. "Prostate cancer radiation therapy: what do clinicians have to know?." BioMed Research International, Vol. 23, 2016, p. 6.
- 15. Dal Pra, Alan, and Luis Souhami. "Prostate cancer radiation therapy: a physician's perspective." Physica medica, Vol. 32.3, 2016, p. 438.445.
- 16. Westgaard, Kristine Løken, et al. "Oral and ocular late effects in head and neck cancer patients treated with radiotherapy." Scientific Reports, Vol. 11.1, 2021, p. 1.11.
- 17. Wortel, Ruud C. "Prostate Cancer Radiotherapy: A Field in Motion, 2018.

- Rebegea, L., M. Dumitru, and D. Firescu. "Clinical application of linear-quadratic model in reirradiation of symptomatic bone metastases." Rom. Journ. Phys, Vol. 59.7-8, 2014, p. 785-791.
- Trager, Michael, et al. "Evaluation of Elements Spine SRS Plan Quality for SRS and SBRT Treatment of Spine Metastases." Frontiers in oncology, Vol. 10, 2020, p. 346.
- 20. Kagei K, Suzuki K, Shirato H, Nambu T, Yoshikawa H, Irie G. [A randomized trial of single and multifraction radiation therapy for bone metastasis: a preliminary report]. Gan No Rinsho, Vol. 36.15, 1990, p. 2553-8.
- 21. Lutz S, Berk L, Chang E, Chow E, Hoskin P, Howell D, et al. Palliative radiotherapy for bone metastases: an ASTRO evidence-based guideline. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2011, p.79.
- 22. Sze, Wai Man, et al. "Palliation of metastatic bone pain: single fraction versus multifraction radiotherapy." Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2002.
- 23. Ernst-Stecken, Antje, et al. "Survival and quality of life after hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for recurrent malignant glioma." Journal of Neurooncology, Vol. 81.3, 2007, p. 287-294.
- 24. Combs, Stephanie E., Jürgen Debus, and Daniela Schulz-Ertner. "Radiotherapeutic alternatives for previously irradiated recurrent gliomas." Bmc Cancer, Vol. 7.1, 2007, p. 1-11.
- 25. Niyazi, Maximilian, et al. "Analysis of equivalent uniform dose (EUD) and conventional radiation treatment parameters after primary and re-irradiation of malignant glioma." Radiation Oncology, Vol. 8.1, 2013, p. 1-7.
- 26. Choi, Clara YH, et al. "Stereotactic radiosurgery for treatment of spinal metastases recurring in close proximity to previously irradiated spinal cord." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 78.2, 2010, p. 499-506.
- 27. Chen AM, Phillips TL, Lee NY. Practical considerations in the re-irradiation of recurrent and second primary head-and-neck cancer: who, why, how, and how much? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, Vol. 81, 2011, p.1211-1219.
- 28. Langer CJ, Harris J, Horwitz EM, et al. Phase II study of low-dose paclitaxel and cisplatin in combination with split-course concomitant twice-daily reirradiation in recurrent squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: results of radiation therapy oncology group protocol 9911. J Clin Oncol, Vol. 25, 2007, p.4800- 4805.
- 29. Janot F, de Raucourt D, Benhamou E, et al. Randomized trial of postoperative reirradiation combined with chemotherapy after salvage surgery compared with salvage surgery alone in head and neck carcinoma. J Clin Oncol, Vol.26, 2008, p. 5518-5523.
- Tanvetyanon, Tawee, et al. "Prognostic factors for survival after salvage reirradiation of head and neck cancer." Journal of Clinical Oncology, Vol 27.12, 2009, p. 1983-1991.
- 31. Svajdova, Michaela, Pavol Dubinsky, and Tomas Kazda. "Radical external beam re-irradiation in the treatment of recurrent head and neck cancer: Critical review." Head & Neck, Vol. 43.1, 2021, p. 354-366.
- 32. Vargo JA, Ward MC, Caudell JJ, et al. A multi-institutional comparison of SBRT and IMRT for definitive reirradiation of recurrent or second primary head and neck Cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, Vol. 100, 2018, p.595-605.

- 33. Supe, Sanjay S., et al. "Spinal cord response to altered fractionation and reirradiation: radiobiological considerations and role of bioeffect models." Journal of cancer research and therapeutics, Vol. 2.3, 2006, p. 105.
- 34. Choi, Clara YH, et al. "Stereotactic radiosurgery for treatment of spinal metastases recurring in close proximity to previously irradiated spinal cord." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 78.2, 2010, p. 499-506.
- 35. Nalichowski, Adrian, et al. "Single fraction radiosurgery/stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for spine metastasis: a dosimetric comparison of multiple delivery platforms." Journal of applied clinical medical physics, Vol. 18.1, 2017, p. 164-169.
- 36. Tol, Jim Pieter. "Radiotherapy treatment planning for head and neck cancer: Automation and improved organ at risk sparing, 2016.
- 37. Khan, Fazal, and David Craft. "Three-dimensional conformal planning with lowsegment multicriteria intensity modulated radiation therapy optimization." Vol. 5.2, 2015, p.103-111.
- Purdy, J. A. "Conformal radiation therapy physics, treatment planning, and clinical aspects." Principles and practice of radiation oncology. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2013, p.203-21.
- 39. Pashazadeh, Ali, Axel Boese, and Michael Friebe. "Radiation therapy techniques in the treatment of skin cancer: an overview of the current status and outlook." Journal of Dermatological Treatment, 2019.
- 40. Emami, Bahman, Gayle E. Woloschak, and William Small. "Beyond the linear quadratic model: intraoperative radiotherapy and normal tissue tolerance." Translational Cancer Research, Vol. 4.2, 2015, p. 140-147.
- 41. Licitra, Lisa, et al. "Cancer of the larynx." Critical reviews in oncology/hematology, Vol. 47.1, 2003, p. 65-80.
- 42. Solin, Lawrence J., et al. "Three-dimensional photon treatment planning of the intact breast." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 21.1, 1991, p. 193-203.
- 43. Feye, A. T. "Percentage depth dose and beam profile measurements for electron and photon beam in reference field size for different energies." Int J Sci Eng Res, Vol. 9.2, 2018, p. 1460-4.
- 44. Chin, L. M.; Cheng, C. W.; Siddon, R. L.; Rice, R. K.; Mijnheer, B. J.; Harris, J. R. Three-dimensional photon dose distributions with and without lung corrections for tangential breast treatments. Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys., 1988, p. 192.
- 45. Mu, Xiangkui, et al. "Can photon IMRT be improved by combination with mixed electron and photon techniques?." Acta Oncologica, Vol. 43.8, 2004, p. 727-735.
- 46. Jani, Ashesh B., et al. "Biological-effective versus conventional dose volume histograms correlated with late genitourinary and gastrointestinal toxicity after external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer: a matched pair analysis." BMC cancer, Vol. 3.1, 2003, p. 1-10.
- 47. Jaafar Sidek, Mohamed Ariff. Monte Carlo investigations of radiotherapy beams: studies of conventional, stereotactic and unflattened beams. Diss. University of Birmingham, 2010.
- 48. Chin, L. M.; Cheng, C. W.; Siddon, R. L.; Rice, R. K.; Mijnheer, B. J.; Harris, J. R. Three-dimensional photon dose distributions with and without lung corrections for tangential breast treatments. Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys, 1988, p. 192.
- 49. Fraass, B. A.; Lichter, A. S.; McShan, D. L.; Yanke, B. R.; Diaz, R. F.; Yeakel, K. S.; van de Geijn, J. The influence of lung density corrections on treatment planning

for primary breast cancer. Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys, Vol. 14.179, 1988, p. 190.

- 50. Feye, A. T. "Percentage depth dose and beam profile measurements for electron and photon beam in reference field size for different energies." Int J Sci Eng Res, Vol. 9.2, 2018, p. 1460-4.
- 51. Wang, Lu, et al. "Dosimetric advantage of using 6 MV over 15 MV photons in conformal therapy of lung cancer: Monte Carlo studies in patient geometries." Journal of Applied Clinical Medical Physics, Vol. 3.1, 2002, p. 51-59.
- 52. Leung, Philip MK, and H. E. Johns. "Use of electron filters to improve the buildup characteristics of large fields from cobalt-60 beams." Medical physics, Vol. 4.5, 1977, p. 441.444.
- Almond, Peter R., et al. "AAPM's TG-51 protocol for clinical reference dosimetry of high-energy photon and electron beams." Medical physics, Vol. 26.9, 1999, p. 1847-1870.
- 54. Jeraj, Matjaž, and Vlado Robar. "Multileaf collimator in radiotherapy." Radiology and Oncology, Vol. 38.3, 2004, p. 23.
- 55. Seibert, J. Anthony, and John M. Boone. "X-ray imaging physics for nuclear medicine technologists. Part 2: X-ray interactions and image formation." Journal of nuclear medicine technology, Vol. 33.1, 2005, p. 3.18.
- 56. Ma, Chaoqiong, et al. "Flattening filter free in intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT)–Theoretical modeling with delivery efficiency analysis." Medical physics, Vol. 46.1, 2019, p. 34-44.
- 57. Dobler, Barbara, et al. "Re-irradiating spinal column metastases using IMRT and VMAT with and without flattening filter-a treatment planning study." Radiation Oncology, Vol. 11.1, 2016, p. 1-9.
- 58. Vaitheeswaran, Ranganathan, et al. "A hybrid algorithm for instant optimization of beam weights in anatomy-based intensity modulated radiotherapy: A performance evaluation study." Journal of Medical Physics/Association of Medical Physicists of India, Vol. 36.2, 2011, p. 85.
- 59. Gokce, Tuncay C., Sitki Aytac, and Tumay Gokce. "Determination of dose profile data with film dosimetry." Conference Proceedings of the 23rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, Vol. 4, 2001.
- 60. Purdy, J. A. "Conformal radiation therapy physics, treatment planning, and clinical aspects." Principles and practice of radiation oncology. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2013, p.203-21.
- Fenwick, J. D., et al. "Geometric leaf placement strategies." Physics in Medicine & Biology, Vol. 49.8, 2004, p. 1505.
- 62. Sarti, Alessio, et al. "Feasibility Study of a Prostate Cancer FLASH Therapy Treatment With Electrons of High Energy, 2021.
- 63. Park, Jong Min, et al. "The effect of extremely narrow MLC leaf width on the plan quality of VMAT for prostate cancer." Radiation Oncology, Vol. 11.1, 2016, p. 85.
- 64. Bär, Werner, et al. "A comparison of forward and inverse treatment planning for intensity-modulated radiotherapy of head and neck cancer." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 69.3, 2003, p. 251-258.
- 65. Brahme, Anders. "Aspects on the development of radiation therapy and radiation biology since the early work of Rolf Wideroee." Acta Oncologica, Vol. 37.6, 1998, p. 593-602.

- 66. Vanneste, Ben GL, et al. "Prostate cancer radiation therapy: what do clinicians have to know?." BioMed Research International, Vol. 23, 2016, p. 6.
- 67. Park, Jong Min, et al. "The effect of extremely narrow MLC leaf width on the plan quality of VMAT for prostate cancer." Radiation Oncology, Vol. 11.1, 2016, p. 85.
- 68. Reynolds, Tatsiana A., et al. "Dose gradient index for stereotactic radiosurgery/radiation therapy." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 106.3, 2020, p. 604-611.
- 69. Petrova, D., S. Smickovska, and E. Lazarevska. "Conformity Index and Homogeneity Index of the Postoperative Whole Breast Radiotherapy. Open Access Maced J Med Sci, Vol. 15.5, 2017, p.736.739.
- 70. Cao, Tingting, et al. "Analysis of different evaluation indexes for prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy plans: conformity index, homogeneity index and gradient index." Precision Radiation Oncology, Vol. 3.3, 2019, p. 72.79.
- 71. Yan, Lingling, et al. "A new homogeneity index definition for evaluation of radiotherapy plans." Journal of applied clinical medical physics, Vol. 20.11. 2019, p. 50-56.
- 72. Paddick, Ian, and Bodo Lippitz. "A simple dose gradient measurement tool to complement the conformity index." Journal of neurosurgery. Supplement, 2006, p. 194.201.
- 73. Sung, KiHoon, and Young Eun Choi. "Dose gradient curve: A new tool for evaluating dose gradient." Plos one , Vol. 13.4, 2018, p.19.
- 74. Cao, Tingting, et al. "Analysis of different evaluation indexes for prostate stereotactic body radiation therapy plans: conformity index, homogeneity index and gradient index." Precision Radiation Oncology, Vol. 3.3, 2019, p. 72.79.
- 75. Chow E, Harris K, Fan G, et al. Palliative radiotherapy trials for bone metastases: A systematic review. J Clin Oncol, Vol. 25, 2007, p.1423–1436.
- 76. Lutz S, Berk L, Chang E, Chow E, Hoskin P, Howell D, et al. Palliative radiotherapy for bone metastases: an ASTRO evidence-based guideline. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2011, p.76.
- 77. Clark, Grant M., et al. "Feasibility of single-isocenter volumetric modulated arc radiosurgery for treatment of multiple brain metastases." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 76.1, 2010, p. 296.302.
- 78. Kuijper, Ingrid T., et al. "Volumetric modulated arc therapy versus conventional intensity modulated radiation therapy for stereotactic spine radiotherapy: a planning study and early clinical data." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 94.2, 2010, p. 224.228.
- 79. Lee, Y. K., et al. "Comparison of deliverable IMRT and VMAT for spine metastases using a simultaneous integrated boost." The British journal of radiology, Vol. 86.1022, 2013, p. 466.
- 80. Fowler, Jack F. "21 years of biologically effective dose." The British journal of radiology, Vol. 83.991, 2010, p. 554-568.
- Nieder, Carsten, et al. "Proposal of human spinal cord reirradiation dose based on collection of data from 40 patients." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 61.3, 2005, p. 851-855.
- 82. Jeremic, Branislav, et al. "Absence of thoracic radiation myelitis after hyperfractionated radiation therapy with and without concurrent chemotherapy for Stage III nonsmall-cell lung cancer." International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics, Vol. 40.2, 1998, p. 343-346.

- 83. Niewald, Marcus, et al. "Multivariate logistic analysis of dose–effect relationship and latency of radiomyelopathy after hyperfractionated and conventionally fractionated radiotherapy in animal experiments." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 41.3, 1998, p. 681-688.
- 84. Van Der Schueren, Emmanuel, et al. "From 2 Gy to 1 Gy per fraction: sparing effect in rat spinal cord?." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 14.2, 1988, p. 297-300.
- 85. Wong, C. Shun, Yong Hao, and Richard P. Hill. "Response of rat spinal cord to very small doses per fraction: lack of enhanced radiosensitivity." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 36.1, 1995, p. 44-49.
- 86. Emami, Bahman, Gayle E. Woloschak, and William Small. "Beyond the linear quadratic model: intraoperative radiotherapy and normal tissue tolerance." Translational Cancer Research, Vol. 4.2, 2015, p. 140-147.
- 87. McMahon, Stephen Joseph. "The linear quadratic model: usage, interpretation and challenges." Physics in Medicine & Biology, Vol. 64.1, 2018.
- Richardson, David B. "Occupational Health Risks in Nuclear Power, 2004, p. 489-496.
- 89. Supe, Sanjay S., et al. "Spinal cord response to altered fractionation and reirradiation: radiobiological considerations and role of bioeffect models." Journal of cancer research and therapeutics, Vol. 2.3, 2006, p. 105.
- 90. Dale, Roger G. "The application of the linear-quadratic dose-effect equation to fractionated and protracted radiotherapy." The British journal of radiology, Vol. 58.690, 1985, p. 515-528.
- 91. Dische, Stanley, and Michele I. Saunders. "Continuous, hyperfractionated, accelerated radiotherapy (CHART): an interim report upon late morbidity." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 16.1, 1989, p. 65-72.
- 92. Mason, Kathryn A., H. Rodney Withers, and Chi-Shiun Chiang. "Late effects of radiation on the lumbar spinal cord of guinea pigs: re-treatment tolerance." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 26.4, 1993, p. 643-648.
- 93. Ruifrok, A. C. C., B. J. Kleiboer, and A. J. Van der Kogel. "Fractionation sensitivity of the rat cervical spinal cord during radiation retreatment." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 25.4, 1992, p. 295-300.
- 94. Lavey, Roberts, et al. "The extent, time course, and fraction size dependence of mouse spinal cord recovery from radiation injury." International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, Vol. 30.3, 1994, p. 609-617.
- 95. Ansari, Shahanawaj, Mukesh Kumar Zope, and Neha Yadav. "A new method for risk factor assessment of organs at risk including conformity index in radiotherapy treatment plan." Journal of Radiotherapy in Practice, 2020, p. 19.
- 96. McMahon, Stephen Joseph. "The linear quadratic model: usage, interpretation and challenges." Physics in Medicine & Biology, Vol. 64.1, 2018.
- 97. Richardson, David B. "Occupational Health Risks in Nuclear Power, 2004, p. 489-496.
- 98. Duprez, Fréderic, et al. "Intensity-modulated radiotherapy for recurrent and second primary head and neck cancer in previously irradiated territory." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 93.3, 2009, p. 563-569.
- 99. Mancosu, Pietro, et al. "Re-irradiation of metastatic spinal cord compression: A feasibility study by volumetric-modulated arc radiotherapy for in-field recurrence

creating a dosimetric hole on the central canal." Radiotherapy and Oncology, Vol. 94.1, 2010, p. 67-70.

- 100.Rebegea, L., M. Dumitru, and D. Firescu. "Clinical application of linear- quadratic model in reirradiation of symptomatic bone metastases." Rom. Journ. Phys, Vol. 59.7-8, 2014, p. 785-791.
- 101. Wong, C. S., J. Van Dyk, and R. P. Hill. "Myelopathy and hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy: a radiobiological interpretation." Acute and Long-Term Side-Effects of Radiotherapy, 1993, p. 189-197.
- 102. Tan, B. C., and T. H. Khor. "Radiation myelitis in carcinoma of the nasopharynx." Clinical radiology, Vol. 20.3, 1969, p. 329-331.
- 103.van der Kogel, Albert J. "Retreatment tolerance of the spinal cord, 1993, p. 715-717.
- 104.Schultheiss, Timothy E., and L. Clifton Stephens. "Permanent radiation myelopathy." The British journal of radiology, Vol. 65.777, 1992, p. 737-753.